
Introduction

I knew it was there before I turned and saw it at the top of the stairs. Everyone  
went  silent.  Then  one  of  the  men  picked  up  his  gun  and  shot  at  it,  but  nothing 
happened. The thing just smiled...

Do you want to know about ghosts? There are many kinds.There are ghosts who tell 
people about death and danger, like the old man of the Bank of England, and the thin, white 
man of Varley Grange. There are ghosts who come back to find their murderer, like the sailor 
who died at sea. There are ghosts of people who can never rest because of the things they did, 
like that of Jacopo Ferraldi. There are ghosts of living men too — men in prison for crimes that 
they did not do. And men who see terrible things, and ghosts before they die ...

In these six stories you will meet all these, and more. Now, do you really want to know 
about ghosts?

Ghost stories were much more popular in the 1800s than in the 1700s. In the 1700s 
there were no secrets in life. People believed that science could explain everything. They were 
not interested in dreams or ghosts or things that they could not understand.

Then, at the beginning of the 1800s, people became bored with amusing and clever 
stories about real life.  They wanted  stories about things that science and reason could not 
explain.  Stories about strange, foreign countries, about ghosts in big, dark  houses and about 
mysterious animals in shadowy forests.  Stories  about brave young men who saved beautiful 
young women from death and terrible danger. People wanted stories to frighten them.

These stories  were  called 'Gothic'  stories.  Three of  the most  popular early Gothic 
stories were John Polidori's  The Vampyre  (1818), Mary Shelley's  Frankenstein  (1819), and Sir 
Walter Scott's Three Tales of Terror (1824-1828).

Then, in the middle of the 1800s, the ghost story changed. Ghosts moved out of  
large, dark houses in foreign lands, and  moved into ordinary houses in everyday life. Ghosts 
walked along streets and around gardens, and came through windows into ordinary homes. 
Nobody was safe. It was easier to believe in ghosts and they became even more frightening.

Charles Dickens (1812-1870) wrote many ghost stories. Two of his most famous are 
A Christmas Carol  (1852) and The Signalman (1866). He liked ghost stories so much that he 
started a magazine for them in 1859. Many famous writers wrote for this magazine, including 
Wilkie Collins,  Elizabeth Gaskell,  Mark Lemon and Joseph Sheridan Le Fanu. Le Fanu's 
stories were  unusual because his ghosts were often not just in the same room,  but inside the 
person's head.

Towards the end of the 1800s, ghost story writers followed Le Fanu's example more 
and more. They became interested in  questions like: When does a man stop being a man? 
When does  he start to become something different? This was the most  frightening kind of 
story of all. It was impossible to escape from the ghost, because it lived inside you. It drank your 
blood and ate your heart and mind and you went crazy.

The most famous books of this type were Robert Louis  Stevenson's Dr Jekyll and 
Mr Hyde (1886), Oscar Wilde's  The Picture of Dorian Gray (1891), and Bram Stoker's Dracula 
(1897).

All the stories in this book were written in the middle of the 1800s, at the time when 

ghost stories took place in everyday life.  Joseph Sheridan Le Fanu (1814—73) was born in 
Dublin, Ireland, and studied at Trinity College, Dublin. He worked for newspapers for many 
years. After his wife died he stayed at home and saw few people. He wrote over 20 books, but 
he is best  known for his clever ghost stories. His books House by the Churchyard  (1863), 
Uncle Silas (1864)  and his book of short

stories In a Glass Darkly (1872) include some of the most frightening stories in the 
English language.

Mark Lemon (1809-70) was a businessman before he became  a writer.  He wrote 
songs, Christmas stories and joke books, but most of his writing was for the theatre. In 1851 he 
wrote a short, funny play with Charles Dickens called Mr Nightingale's Diary, and they acted in 
it together. He is most famous for starting the British magazine Punch.

Tom Hood (1835-74) was the son of the famous writer,  Thomas Hood. Like his 
father,  he  wrote  poems,  but  he  is  mostly  famous  for  his  amusing  writing.  He  wrote  for 
newspapers and wrote many children's books, often working with his sister. He also drew the 
pictures for many of his books.

Catherine Crowe (1800—76) was born in the south of England but lived in Edinburgh, 
Scotland, for many years. Her real name was Catherine Stevens. She wrote a lot of children's 
books and other stories, but her most popular book was a book of ghost stories,  The Night  
Side of Nature (1848).
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The Dead Man of Varley Grange

Anonymous, 1878

'Hallo,  Jack.  Where  are  you  going?  Are  you  staying  with  your  parents  for 
Christmas?'  Jack Darent  and I were in the army  together. It  was December the 23rd 
and everyone was going away for the holiday.

Jack stood in the doorway, tall and good-looking, laughing at
my question.'Not this year. I've had enough of old aunts and my sister's six children. 

I'm not a family man like you. By the way, how is your beautiful sister?'
'She's very well and going to lots of parties,' I answered, smiling.
Jack looked a little sad at this. He was in love with my sister  and she was in love 

with him, but they did not have enough  money to get married. 'Well, please send her my 
love,' he said.  'I'm going down to your part of England — Westernshire — for some shooting. 
Henderson has asked me and some others. We're  staying in an old house, where I hear the 
shooting is very good. Perhaps you know it? It's called Varley Grange.'

'Varley Grange?' I said.'Oh no, Jack.You can't go there.'
'Why not?' he asked, surprised.
'I've heard ... uncomfortable things about that house,' I said, searching for the right 

words.
'Uncomfortable? What do you mean?' laughed Jack. 'It'll probably be a bit cold and 

there'll be a few rats maybe, but Henderson's French cook is coming and he's bringing lots 
of wine. I'm sure I won't feel the cold.'

'No, Jack. I don't think you quite understand ...' I began. I think he thought I was a 
bit crazy.

'Well, I must go, or I'll miss the train. See you after Christmas,'  he said happily, not 
hearing my last words, and he was gone.

When I got home, my wife, my sister Bella, and my two children were all waiting 
for me to have tea.

'I've just seen Jack Darent, Bella,' I said.
'Oh yes,' she answered, pretending not to be interested. 'And where s he going for 

Christmas?'
'You'll be surprised when I tell you. He's going to Varley Grange.'
'Varley Grange?' she said. 'But that's terrible! Did you try to stop him?'
'Of course I did, but he didn't understand.'
She did not wait to hear any more, but ran out of the room, crying.
My wife was very confused. She was from London, not Westernshire, and she did not 

know the story of Varley Grange. 'Why is she crying?' she asked. 'What is this place you're  
talking about?'

'Well, my dear, do you believe in ghosts?' I asked her.
'Of course not,' she said, looking at the children, who were listening carefully. 'Wait, 

let me take the children out.'

When the children were playing happily in another room, I told her the story.'Varley 
Grange is an old house in Westernshire. It belonged to the Varley family - all of them are dead 
now. The  last two members of the family, Dennis Varley and his sister, lived  there a hundred 
years ago. The sister fell in love with a poor man and her brother didn't want them to marry. 
To stop them, he locked her up. One night she and her lover ran away, but her brother caught 
her and took her back to Varley Grange, where he killed her.'

'He murdered his own sister?'
'Yes. And since that day, Dennis Varley's ghost has walked around the house. Many 

people have seen it. They say that if you
also see the ghost of his sister, you will have very bad luck or a  serious illness, or 

perhaps you'll even die.'
Of course, my wife did not believe the story and we all forgot  about it until a week 

later when I saw Jack again, sitting in a London cafe.
'Well, Jack, how was the shooting?' I asked. From his white face I saw that all was 

not well. He asked me to sit down.   ""
'I understand now what you were saying before I left London,'  he began. 'I'm only 

sorry I didn't listen to you.'
'Did you see something?' I asked.
'I  saw everything,'  he  whispered.  'Let  me tell  you  what  happened.  We all  left 

London together and had a good journey  down to Westernshire. We were all very happy and 
that night we slept well. The next day, we went shooting. It was wonderful -birds everywhere. 
We shot about two hundred altogether, and

Henderson's French cook made us a wonderful dinner from them. After the food 
we all  sat  around drinking coffee,  smoking  and telling stories  about shooting and fishing. 
Suddenly one of us — I can't remember who it was — shouted and pointed up to the top of the 
stairs. We all looked round and there was a man looking down at us.'

'How was he dressed?' I asked.
'He was wearing black clothes, but it was his face that I noticed most. It was white 

and thin and he had a long beard and terrible eyes. He looked like a dead man. As we watched he 
went into my bedroom and everyone ran to the stairs. We searched all the rooms but could find 
nothing.

'Well,  none of  us  slept  very  well  that  night,  but  the  next  morning at breakfast, 
Henderson asked us not to talk about it any more. He seemed quite angry and did not want the 
servants to  hear. We had another good day's shooting and we all slept well  that night. Two 
nights went by and nothing happened. Then, on the third night, we were sitting by the fire after 
dinner as before, when suddenly the room went cold. I knew it was there before I turned and 
saw it at the top of the stairs. Everyone went silent. Then one of the men picked up his gun 
and shot at it,  but  nothing happened. The thing just smiled and, once again, went  into my 
bedroom.

'The next morning, four out of the eight of us decided to leave immediately. Some 
said they had important business in London, others suddenly remembered that they had to see 
their families. Anyway, there were four of us left - Wells, Harford, Henderson and myself. In 
the morning, we were all happy and laughing about the ghost and we decided that someone 

2



from the village was probably making fools of us. Henderson told us the story he heard from 
one of the villagers about Dennis  Varley's murder of his sister. I'm sure you know it, so I 
won't tell you again.'

'Yes, I do know it,'  I said. 'I also know that anyone who sees  the ghosts of both 
Dennis and his sister will have terrible bad luck.'

'Not only that,'  said Jack. 'Anyone who sees the sister's  face will die within one 
year.' His face turned whiter as he said this and he did not speak for a few minutes. Then he 
continued his story.

'Well, that night we felt far less brave than in the morning. At eleven o'clock we all  
waited in different places for the ghosts to  come. I was at the top of the stairs with Harford 
opposite me. There was a storm outside and the wind made a sound like someone crying. 
At midnight there was a scream from Henderson downstairs and Harford and I jumped up. 
We saw the dead man coming slowly up the stairs towards us. Henderson ran after it and, as the 
ghost passed us, we felt cold and terribly afraid.

Then, suddenly, Harford held my arm and pointed. I turned and saw the ghost of 
the sister coming. She wore a long, black and white dress and she had a big cross round her 
neck. I could not see her face, but I wanted to •— I don't know why, I couldn't stop myself. I 
went towards her and, as I did so, she looked up.'

'You saw her face? What was it like?' I asked.      'I saw it,' he said,'but I can never 
describe it to anyone.'  'Well, what happened next?' I asked.

'I can't remember. I think Г fell. Everything just went black. I left the house the next 
day. I know that I'll die in a year and something terrible will happen to Harford. He saw her 
too, but not her face. The others only saw the brother.'

I decided not to tell my sister the terrible story, but soon things happened which 
everyone heard about. Bob Harford's wife ran away from him two days after they got married. 
He has gone to live in a wild part of Canada and no one hears from him any more. And Jack 
Darent? Poor, handsome Jack Darent died in South Africa about eleven months after I met him in 
the cafe that day. And my sister Bella? She is still beautiful, but she always wears black and she 
always looks sad.

The Ghost Detective

Mark Lemon, 1866

 When I first came to London thirty years ago, I met a young
man, James Loxley, who worked in the wine business. The company he worked for 

sold wine to pubs and restaurants, and just after I met him he got a new job in the company 
with more money. Because of this he was able to get married and I went to his wedding. His 
wife was a pretty girl with fair hair and blue  eyes. It was clear to everyone that they loved 
each other.

They went to live in a new house outside London and I visited them often. Over 
the next three years, they had two beautiful children and they were a very happy family. They 
did not have much money and had only one servant, a rather stupid girl called Susan. One year 
they asked me to come to their home for Christmas dinner. We had a lovely meal and then sat in 
their sitting-room, laughing and talking. It was a small but comfortable room. In the corner was a 
Christmas tree and on the wall was a painting of Loxley s mother and father, who were both 
dead. Loxley loved this painting. He told me that it was just like his parents and he often felt 
that they were really in the room with him.

After Christmas Loxley came with me to visit my old uncle  for  a few days.  He 
seemed very quiet during the trip and I thought perhaps he wanted to be with his wife and 
children. When the holiday was over, we travelled to London together early in the morning 
to go to work. He seemed worried during the journey but he did not say why. The next day I 
could not believe it when I heard that he was in prison for stealing money from his company. I 
immediately went to see him and on the way I remembered his quietness over the last few days. I 
also began to think about how expensive it was with two children and how Loxley probably 
needed money. But, no, it was impossible. I knew that he was an honest man.

At the prison I talked to him and this is the story he told me:
'On December the 24th, Christmas Eve, I went to one of my customers, John Rogers, 

and asked him to pay his bill. He is often late with payments and I wanted to get the money 
before the Christmas holiday. He gave me a cheque and I immediately took it to the bank and 
cashed it, because in the past this customer has written a cheque and then stopped it before we 
could get the cash. Jt was too late to go to the office, so I decided to keep the money until 
after the holiday. I put it in my. pocket and went

home. On the day we left my house to visit your uncle, I could not find the money 
and I became very worried. I looked all over the house, but it was nowhere. I was afraid to go 
back to work.  When I told my boss about it, he did not understand why I didn't  come to the 
office immediately when I couldn't find the money. He did not believe my story and called me 
a thief.'

At that moment we heard someone crying and screaming outside the door. It was 
Loxley's wife, Martha. She ran in, held her husband in her arms and cried and cried. It was 
terrible to  see. After some time the prison guard told us to leave, and I took  her home, still 
crying. She became ill and her mother came to  stay with her and the children. The servant, 
Susan, was also there.  She seemed to be a good girl and was always ready to help, but  she 
seemed very unhappy about the problem and sometimes cried more than Martha. I visited 
the little house almost every day and, one day, I found Martha very excited.

'What's happened, Martha?' I asked.
'Well, you probably won't believe this,' she said, 'but last night I saw my husband's ghost.'
'But James isn't dead,' I said,'he's only in prison.'
'I know, I know,' she said, 'but listen to this. Last  night at  midnight I was in the 

sitting-room — I couldn't sleep as usual. I was sitting worrying about our problems. Suddenly I 
looked up and saw James come into the room without a sound. He sat down over there in 
his favourite chair and looked at the picture of his father for a few minutes without speaking. 
Then he stood up and looked at me with a face full of love and walked out of the room.'
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'Perhaps you were half asleep and dreamed it,' I said, but She  was sure about what 
happened and did not want to listen to me.

Susan,  the  servant  girl,  was  in  the  room  with  us  and  was  listening  to  the 
conversation, looking very afraid. 'Did you speak to the ghost, Mrs Loxley? Did it say anything 
to you?' she asked.

'No, Susan. I've told you everything that happened,' said Martha.
I left the house that day feeling very worried as Martha was looking so white and tired. 

I thought about calling a doctor, but I decided to wait and see what happened. The next day I 
visited them again and found Martha even more excited.

'He came again,' she almost shouted. 'This time he stood in front of the painting of his 
father and pointed at it. Then he turned to me and held out his arms. I ran towards him, but  
he  disappeared and I crashed into the wall. I think he means there is  something behind the 
picture. Please, will you help me to take it down and look?'

The painting was quite high on the wall and I needed a ladder  to reach it. I called 
Susan and asked her to bring one.

'A ladder?' she asked. 'What for?'
When I explained about the painting I  was surprised to see  her face turn white. 

'There isn't a ladder,' she said quickly.
'But I'm sure I saw one,' I said, 'just outside the kitchen door.  Oh well, my mistake. 

Don't worry.'
Susan didn't leave the room but watched as I stood on a chair and began to take the 

picture of Loxley's father down. Suddenly she screamed,'It was me, Mrs Loxley. I know why the 
ghost came. The money's behind the picture. I hid it there.' She began to cry and cry, and it was 
some time before she could tell the story.

'It was on Christmas Eve,' she said. 'Mr Loxley came home a bit late. I was behind him 
as he was walking upstairs, and he took his handkerchief out of his pocket. As he did so, the 
money fell  out. He didn't notice, but I did and I picked it up. It was more money than I've 
seen in my life, Mrs Loxley, I couldn't stop  myself. Then I was frightened about someone 
finding it on me or in my room, so I hid it behind that picture. Oh, please Mrs Loxley. Don't 
send me to prison.'

Well, as soon as Susan told her story to the police, James was a free man, and the family 
are now living happily in Australia.

The Dream

Joseph Sheridan Le Fanu, 1838
In the year 1750 I was working at the church in Castleton, a  small town in the 

south of England. One night a knock at the door woke me up. Outside was a poor little girl, 
crying loudly. After a few minutes, I understood that her father was very ill, almost dying, and 
she wanted me to come to him.

'Of course I'll come,' I said. 'Where do you live? Who is your  father?' She did not 

answer but began to cry more loudly. Again I
waited until she was calm, and then asked her the same question.
'My father is Pat Connell,' she said, 'and now I'm sure that you won't come.
I knew about Pat Connell. He was a bad man, who often stole things, and he drank too 

much beer. I never saw him in church. He was a bad man, but he was dying and I had to go to 
him, to say a few words to help him as he died.

I put on my coat and followed the poor little girl through me cold, dark streets. We 
walked quickly and our way took us to the worst part of the town. The streets were narrow, the 
houses  were old and there was a terrible smell. The girl went through a  small door and I 
followed her up the broken stairs to the top of the building. She took me up to the bedroom 
where her father  lay. His wife and children were sitting round the bed watching  worriedly. 
The doctor was also with him. I went closer to the man and looked at his face, which was 
blue from too much drink. His lips were black and, from his breathing, I felt sure that death was 
not far away.

'Is there any hope?' I asked the doctor. He shook his head and  listened to the man's 
heart.

'This man is dead,' he said, and turned away from the bed.
The wife and children began to cry. I stood still, watching them, feeling sad that I  

was too late to help the dead man, too late to talk to him about God.
Suddenly the wife screamed and pointed at the bed. I turned round quickly and saw 

the body of the man sitting up in bed. For a few seconds I could not move. I stood, confused, 
thinking of dead men and ghosts until I realized that the man was alive. The doctor ran to look 
at him and found blood running from a cut in the man's body.

'The blood coming out has made him better,' he said. 'I've  never seen this before. 
He's very lucky.'

The doctor and the man's wife made him comfortable, and I left, promising to return 
the next day. I did go back the next day and the day after, but the sick man was always sleeping. 
On the third day I returned and found him awake. As I went in, he shouted, 'Oh, thank you, 
thank you for coming. I want to talk to you.' I sat down next to the bed and he began to talk.

'I've been a very bad man, I know that,' he said. 'I've stolen, I've drunk too much, I've 
had a bad life, but I don't want to go to hell.' He began to cry and could not stop for some time. 
I gave him a glass of water and he continued. 'I must tell you what happened that night you  
came here. I know you'll understand as a man of the church. I came in late after drinking a lot  
of beer. I  went to bed but woke up a few hours later. I wanted to get some air but I didn't 
want to wake the children by opening the window, so I started to go downstairs. As it was 
very dark I counted the stairs so that I did not fall at the bottom. Well, I got to the bottom of 
the first stairs, but suddenly the floor broke under me and I started to fall.

'I fell and fell for a long time through the blackness and when I stopped I was at a big 
table. Sitting at the table were lots of men. There was a smell of fire all around and the light  
was red. Suddenly, I realized that I was in hell. I was dead. I opened my mouth to scream, but 
no sound came out. I tried to stand up. I wanted to run away, but the man sitting next to me  
put his hand on my shoulder. "Sit down, my friend. You can never leave this place," he said. His 
voice was weak, like a child's. Then at the end of the table the tallest of the men stood up. I felt 
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that he was able to control me; he seemed very strong, and he had such a terrible  face. He 
pointed at me with his long, black finger. "You can leave now," he said in a frightening voice, 
"but you must promise to come back in three months' time." I shouted, "I promise to come 
back, but in God's name let me go now."The next thing I knew I was sitting up in bed and the 
doctor was there. Oh, please tell me, was it hell? Did I go to hell or was it just a terrible dream? I 
don't want to go back.'

I thought carefully, and then I said, 'Pat, I'm sure it was a  dream, which you felt 
strongly because you were ill, but it is also a warning to you. Only bad people go to hell. If you 
live a good life from now, if you stop drinking and stealing and come to church, you will not 
go back down there.'

When I left he was looking much happier. A few days later, I visited the house again 
and found him much better. He was mending the floor at the bottom of the first stairs. 'This 
was where I went through. I just want to be safe,' he explained.

For several weeks Pat Connell was a different man. He stopped drinking and stealing, he 
worked hard to look after his family, and he came to church every Sunday. One day I met him in 
the street, coming home from work. We spoke a few words and when I left him he looked happy 
and well. But a few days later, he was dead.

I went to see his wife and she told me what happened. 'Pat was doing so well. I was 
proud of the way he stopped drinking, but one night he met an old friend, just returned from 
the army. He was so pleased to see him that, without thinking, he went into the pub with this 
friend. Well, of course, they started drinking, and one beer followed another. His friends had 
to carry him home and we all put him in his bed. I stayed down here by the fire. I was feeling 
sad, thinking about all our problems. I think I fell asleep for a few minutes.'When I woke up, I 
saw two people, one of them my husband, Pat, going silently out of the room. I called to him, 
"Pat, where are you going?" but he didn't answer me. The door closed. Then I heard a terrible 
crash from above. I  ran up the first stairs and there was Pat. He was dead — his back  was 
broken. I think he was coming down from the bedroom when he fell at the bottom of the first 
stairs, you know, the place he was mending when you came to visit.'

I remembered the place well. The place which, in Pat's dream, was the entrance to hell. 
The place where he knew he had to go back.

The Man with Two Shadows

{from The Shadow of a Shade, Tom Hood, 1869)

My sister Lettie had lived with me ever since I got married. She is my wife's best 
friend and my children all love her, but her face is always sad. Many men have asked her to 
marry them but she has always said no, since she lost her first real love.

George Mason was my wife's cousin, a sailor. He and Lettie met at our wedding and 
fell in love immediately. George was a brave man, who loved the sea, and I was not surprised 
when he decided to travel to the Arctic on a ship called the Pioneer. Lettie was afraid when he 
told her, but she could not stop him. I knew that she was worried because, for the first time in 
her life, she began to look sad sometimes.

My younger brother Harry liked painting, so he decided to paint a picture of George 
before he left. It was quite a good picture. I thought the face was too white but Lettie was 
very pleased with it and she put it on the wall in our sitting-room.

Before the ship sailed, George met the ship's doctor, a  Scotsman called Vincent 
Grieve. He brought him to dinner with us and I disliked him immediately. He was a tall, 
thin man with fair hair and cold, grey eyes. His face looked hard and I felt sure that he was not 
honest.  He sat  too  close  to  Lettie  and  seemed more like her lover than George. At first 
George did not notice, but Lettie did and she was unhappy about it. The strangest thing was when 
he saw the picture of George on the wall. He sat down opposite it, but stood up as soon as he 
saw it. 'I'm sorry,' he said, 'but I cannot look at that picture.'

'Well, I know it's not very good ...' I began.
'It's not that it's either good or bad. I know nothing about painting,' he said. 'It's the 

eyes ... they seem to follow me everywhere.'
I thought that perhaps he just wanted to move closer to Lettie, but when I saw his face, 

he looked really quite frightened.
At the end of the evening I quietly asked George about Vincent Grieve. 'Do you want to 

bring him to dinner again?' I whispered.
'No,' he answered. 'He's a good friend on the ship, but I don't like the way he is with 

ladies.'
We were all surprised when Vincent came again the next day. He brought a note for 

Lettie from George and after that he came almost every day. George was busier than him and 
did not have so much time to see Lettie. On the last day before the ship sailed, Vincent said to 
Lettie, 'If anything happens to George, I wiU still love you and you can marry me.'

Lettie was very angry and told him to leave the house at once. She did not tell George 
about it because she wanted him to leave happily. The time came for George and Lettie to say 
goodbye and, when he left, Lettie cried for hours. I went in and put my arm around her. As I 
looked up, I noticed the picture of George on the wall. The face looked very, very white and I 
thought there was water on it. Perhaps it's just the light, I thought to myself and tried to forget 
about it.

The  Pioneer  sailed. George sent two letters, and then a  year passed before we 
heard anything. We once read about the ship in the newspaper, but that was all. Spring-time 
came, and one beautiful  warm evening we were all at home. The children  were playing 
outside and Harry was watching them from the  window. Suddenly the room felt  very 
cold. Lettie looked up. 'How strange,' she said. 'Do you feel how cold it is?'

'Just like the weather in the Arctic,' I said. As I spoke, I looked at the picture on the 
wall and what I saw made me terribly afraid. His face suddenly looked like a dead man's, with 
no eyes. Without thinking, I said 'Poor George.'

'What do you mean?' asked Lettie, looking frightened. 'Have  you heard something 
about George?'

'No, no,' I said quickly. 'I was just thinking about the cold weather where he is.'
At this moment, Harry put his head back into the room.  'Cold?' he said. 'Who's 

cold?'
'Did you not feel cold just then?' asked Lettie. 'We both

5



did.'
'Not at all,' he said happily. 'How can you feel cold on a  beautiful spring evening 

like this?'
I followed him out of the room. 'Harry,' I said, 'what's the date today?'
'It's Tuesday, February the 23rd. Look, here's the newspaper.'
I told him about the change in the picture and the cold feeling and asked him to write 

it down. I was sure that George was in  some kind of trouble and I wanted to remember 
everything about that evening.

Later Lettie went to bed with a terrible cold and was ill all  through the night. My 
wife was angry with me for sitting with the windows open and making my sister ill.

Early the next morning there was a knock at the door. It was Harry, looking white and 
frightened. I knew immediately why he was there.

'Have you seen the newspaper?' he asked.
On  the  front  page  was  the  news  that  George  was  dead.  One  sentence  from the 

newspaper stayed in my mind: 'Lieutenant  George Mason was out shooting with the ship's 
doctor, Vincent Grieve, when he died.'

When I told my wife about George, she began to cry. 'How can we tell poor Lettie?' 
she said.

'Ssssshh,' said Harry, but it was too late. Lettie was at the door and we had to tell her 
everything. She fell to the floor, her face as white as paper. We called the doctor immediately, but 
she was ill for many months.

About two months later, I read about the arrival of the Pioneer, George's ship, in 
Britain. I did not tell Lettie about it as she was only just getting better. A day or two after this 
there was a knock at the door and, as I got up to open it, I noticed George's picture once 
again. This time, to my surprise, he held one finger up and seemed to be warning me. I looked 
harder at George's face and was almost sure that I could see blood on it. I walked closer and saw 
that the warning finger was really a small moth, sitting on the picture. I picked up the sleepy 
moth and put  it under a wineglass. As I did this, the servant came in and said, Dr Vincent 
Grieve is here to see you, sir.'

As the doctor came in, I saw his face turn white. 'Please, cover that picture of George,' 
he said. 'It is even harder for me to look at it now that he is dead.'

I  covered  the picture and Grieve  sat  down. He looked very  thin and white and, 
again, I felt a strong dislike for him. I asked him about the day George died and he told me the 
story.

'We were out shooting on the ice,' he said. 'It was not easy to walk. Suddenly, George 
fell. I tried to catch him ... I threw my coat for him ... I wanted to pull him up, but it was 
impossible.  He fell into the ice-cold sea and slowly his head went under. His last words were 
"Say goodbye to her".'

As  he  finished  his  story,  Grieve  looked up.  He  screamed  loudly  and  jumped  up, 
pointing behind me. I looked round. The picture was uncovered again and George's white face 
looked down on us. I covered it again and Grieve seemed to feel better.

'I'm so sorry,' he said,'I've been ill.' He stood up.'I'm sorry,' he said again. Then he 
noticed the little white moth, which was still under the wineglass. 'Has someone else from the 

Pioneer been here?' he asked.
'No,' I answered. 'You are the first.'
'Then how did this moth get here? It only lives in the Arctic.  That's very strange .. 

.Well, look after it. It's very unusual.'
He left a few minutes later and Harry and I watched him walk down the street. 'There's 

something I don't like about that man,' I said.
You're right,'  Harry said. 'Do you know he has two shadows?  There's  someone or 

something always standing at his side. That explains why he's always so frightened.'
We decided not to tell Lettie about his visit.
Two days later, I arrived home and found my sister very angry.  Grieve came here 

today and asked me to marry him. He said that George wanted it. I couldn't believe it. We 
were in the sitting-room and he was standing by the wall. As he was speaking, there was a sound 
of something breaking, and George's picture fell on his head and cut it open. We had to carry 
him upstairs and call the doctor.'

I went angrily upstairs but, when I saw Grieve, it was clear that he could understand 
nothing. We could not move him and a nurse came to stay with him during the night. At 
about  midnight, the nurse felt something was wrong in the room. She saw his two shadows 
on the wall and, frightened, went to get Lettie to sit with her. As soon as my sister came into 
the room, Grieve sat up and started to talk. 'I could not stop myself/ he said. 'I hit you with my 
gun because I loved her and now she'll never forgive me. I murdered you, George, because I 
loved her. Don't you see? Can't you understand? Please, please leave me alone.'As he shouted 
the last  words,  he got out of  bed and walked  backwards slowly, all the time looking at 
something following him, his eyes wide and afraid. He came to the window and  suddenly 
seemed to decide something. Very quickly, he turned round, and Lettie could not stop him. 
Two days later, the police found his body in the river.

Now the picture of George is always covered. It has not changed again. Only Lettie 
s face has changed - she never laughs or smiles now.

The Ghost in the Bank of England

Anonymous, 1879
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Many stories end with a wedding. Mine begins with one. The  day that I married 

Annie Burdon was one of the happiest of my  life. Everyone said we were crazy. We had no 
money and I was a young doctor with no job, but we loved each other.

After the wedding we were very poor and I could not find a job. I tried everywhere 
until, one day, I found a job as a doctor on  a ship, sailing to Jamaica. I did not want to leave 
Annie, but I was not able to choose — I had to get some money.

The name of the ship was the Darien and my boss was Mr Julius Mendez, a small 
man of about fifty years old. Nobody liked him and, after one day at sea, I began to feel the 
same. He thought about one thing only - his health. He came to see me two or three times a 
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day, worried about his heart, his stomach, his head or some other part of his body.
When we arrived at Kingston in Jamaica, Mr Mendez came to see me and said,'I'm not 

sure if you will believe this, but I am in danger of dying before the end of my fifty-seventh year. I  
will be fifty-eight on September the 10th, and after midnight on that day I will be safe and able 
to live a long life. I cannot explain why or how I know this, but believe me it is true. I am 
frightened of dying and I don't like the doctors here. Please will you stay with me as my doctor 
and look after me? I will pay you well and after midnight on September the 10th you will be 
free to leave.'

At the end of the first month he paid me £50, which I immediately sent to Annie. 
The second month seemed very long. I was with Mr Mendez all day and all night because he 
was so worried, but he was healthy all the time. At last September the 10th came and Mr 
Mendez did not die. He thanked me and gave me my money, which I sent to Annie. My 
plan was to leave Jamaica on the Damn, but I became ill and it was a long time before I 
could start my journey home.

2

I looked like a ghost when I arrived home many months later. Annie was living with 
her brother and all the family thought I  was dead. I was so happy when I saw my family 
again, but soon  I started to worry. I  still  had no job and I was weak after my  illness in 
Jamaica. I looked for a job in an office - anything for  money — but it was still impossible. I 
found nothing.

One day I  was looking for  a  pen on Annies  desk,  when I  noticed a letter from 
Jamaica.

'Oh, yes. I forgot all about that letter,' said Annie, 'it arrived while you were away'
I opened it and found a letter from Julius Mendez. The letter said.
September the 12th, 1832 Dear Wilson,
You probably thought it was strange that I did not really thank you for your work. I  

am sending you this cheque, which I hope will help you.
Yours faithfully, Julius Mendez
With the letter was a cheque for £1,000! At first I thought I  was dreaming. All 

these months we were poor and worried about money and the cheque was sitting on Annie's 
desk. We were so happy. I immediately wrote a letter of thanks to Mr Mendez and then 
decided to go to London the next day to cash the cheque. I had to take it to the Bank of 
England.

On the journey I met Mr Deacon, one of our neighbours.
'Where are you going, young Wilson?' he asked.
'I have to go to the Bank of England,' I answered.
'Ah,' he said, smiling, 'do you know I worked there as a cashier for twenty years. I still 

remember my desk ... it was a lucky one. I haven't been back there for forty years.'
'A lucky desk?' I asked, surprised.
'Oh, yes,' he said, 'everyone in the bank knew that some desks were lucky and some 

were unlucky. Men who sat in some desks did very well and got better jobs, others ... well 

. . .  I can tell you about one unlucky desk as an example. A young man called Fred Hawes sat 
there. He was a good-looking, happy  young man and he had a beautiful sister, Nancy who 
loved her brother very much. She worked hard to make more money for the family and she 
always looked after Fred. All the cashiers were in love with her and many young men, including 
myself, asked  her to marry them, but she always said no. There was one young  man, Isaac 
Ayscough, who was a close friend of Fred's. Nancy was frightened of him. She knew Isaac loved 
her but she only felt afraid of him and was always worried about Fred spending time with him. 
One day there was a problem at the bank. Some money disappeared and Isaac said that Fred 
was the thief. Fred went to prison and died there. Of course, his sister was very unhappy and 
became a little - well, odd. She came to the bank every day after Fred died and she always asked 
the same question, "Is my brother, Mr Frederick, here today?" and one of us always answered, 
"No, miss, not today." Then she always said, "Give my love to him when he returns and say I'll 
call tomorrow." One day she didn't come and we heard that she was dead.'

'And what about Isaac Ayscough?' I asked.
'Well,' continued Mr Deacon, 'after Fred's death, they moved him from a lucky desk to 

Fred's old, unlucky one. He came to work every day at the same time and left at the same time. 
He  never spoke to  anyone.  He never  married,  but  lived alone in a  small  room. He died 
suddenly at the age of fifty. Now they say  that his ghost always comes to the bank when 
someone cashes the cheque of a dead man. Many people have seen it.'

As Mr Deacon finished his story, our journey ended and we said goodbye.
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Soon I was walking in the busy streets  of London. When I came  to the Bank of 
England, I took the cheque from my pocket and looked at it again. I wanted to be sure it was 
real. I went into the bank and at first I felt confused. There were so many desks with cashiers 
behind them - I did not know which one to go to. Then I noticed one of the cashiers looking 
at me. He was older than the other cashiers and was standing behind them. His clothes looked 
odd, perhaps from some years ago, and his face looked strange — thin and white, like a dead 
man's. He had a red scar on his face in the shape of a letter Y. The other cashiers were busy, so I 
gave him my cheque. I took the £1,000 banknote from him and left the bank quickly, feeling 
uneasy. But I returned home a rich man.
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Everything was wonderful for a year. I found a job and we lived well. I enjoyed my 
work as a doctor. Then one day I was surprised to find a man from the Bank of England 
and a  policeman at my house. They asked lots of questions about my cheque and the £1,000 
banknote. I answered them all and they left, but the next day they returned. They said that my 
£1,000 banknote was not real, and that night I found myself in prison. I  could not believe it. 
How could the note not be real? The police asked me the same questions again, and again I gave 
the same answers. They asked me about the cheque from Mr Mendez.

'What was the date on the cheque, Mr Wilson?' asked the detective.
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'It was the same date as the letter, September the 12th,' I answered. 'Look, here it is.'
'I think  you  wrote the letter and the cheque, Mr Wilson. Do  you know why? We 

have heard from the police in Jamaica that Mr Mendez died on September the 11th. Now 
how do you think he wrote a letter and a cheque to you on the 12th? He was already dead. You 
say that you cashed the cheque at the Bank of England. The banknote is not a real one — how 
do you explain that? The number on it is not from the Bank of England. Perhaps you made it  
yourself?'

I was so confused I could not speak. How did Mr Mendez die on September the 1 lth? 
That was the day after I left him and the day before he wrote my cheque. It was impossible. All I 
knew was that I was not crazy and I was not a criminal. 'Take me to the Bank of England,' I 
said, 'and I will show you the cashier who took my cheque and gave me the £1,000 banknote.'
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Mr Deacon, the man who travelled with me to London that day and told me the ghost 
story, heard about my troubles. He liked me and felt sorry for me, so he came to visit me in 
prison. 'I'll come with you and the detective to the bank, tomorrow,' he said. 'Perhaps I'll be able 
to help.'

We arrived at the bank early the next day. The detective told me to look carefully at 
all the cashiers. Of course, I could not see the strange older man in his odd clothes anywhere.

'He's not here,' I said quietly.
'I knew it — a waste of time,' said the detective angrily. 'Of course he's not here.'
Mr Deacon stopped him. 'Wait,' he said, 'can you describe the cashier?'
I told them about the man's strange, old clothes, his thin, white face and the red scar in 

the shape of a letter Y. 'He didn't look alive,' I said, 'he looked more like a dead man.'
'That's because he was dead,' said Mr Deacon. 'You saw the ghost of Isaac Ayscough. 

Do you remember the story I told you that day? Do you know that his ghost always comes when 
the  cheque of a dead man is cashed? Ask any banker,' he said, turning  to the detective. 'Ask 
anyone at the Bank of England or any bank in the country. They all know the story of the ghost 
in the Bank of England.'

The police asked hundreds of questions that day and they heard the same story from 
everyone in the bank. Finally, they had to believe it and in the evening I was a free man.

The Italian's Story

Catherine Crowe, 1859

This is the story of my family, the Ferraldis. It is a very old Italian family and my 
story begins in 1550,  in Florence,  which  was  an  important  business  centre  at  that  time. 
Jacopo Ferraldi was a very rich man. He kept all his money under the floor in his house and 
was only happy when he was counting it. He was  always afraid of thieves and so he had no 
friends and only two servants. One day he found that £2,000 was missing. To him this was 
not a lot of money but he was very angry and told his servants to leave.

Not long after this, a letter arrived from his sister, who lived in England. In the letter 
she said that her husband was dead and that her son, Arthur Allen, was coming to Florence to 
try to make some money for the family, who were now very poor. Jacopo was angry. He did not 
want his nephew to come, but when the young man arrived his anger changed to happiness. The 
young man had £2,000 with him and Jacopo decided to steal it.

That night, while they were having dinner, Jacopo murdered his nephew and hid his 
body under the floor. He counted the money happily, but the next night, when he sat down to 
dinner, Jacopo saw the ghost of his nephew in the chair opposite him. This happened every 
night at dinner-time and he started to feel more and more uncomfortable.

He decided that the only way to stop the ghost coming was to travel to England and 
pay back the £2,000 to his sister.  Of  course, he could not leave the rest of his money at 
home, so he put it all into big boxes and took it with him. After weeks of travelling, Jacopo 
arrived at his sister's house in England. Two servants carried his boxes into the house and from 
their heaviness they guessed that the boxes were full of money.

Jacopo gave £2,000 to his sister, but of course he told her  nothing about her son's 
death. 'I'm afraid he never arrived in Florence,' he said. He did not see the ghost again, but his 
next worry was his money. He was sure that the servants were planning to steal it. He was right. 
That night they came to Jacopo's room, murdered him and took the boxes. The next morning, a 
neighbour found the empty boxes at the side of the road. The police searched the servants' rooms, 
but they found nothing. They questioned the  servants, but it seemed that they really had no 
idea about the money. It was gone.

Two hundred and fifty years later,  I, Francesco Ferraldi, was  born in the house of 
Jacopo Ferraldi in Florence. As I grew up, I felt that it was an unhappy house, and when I was 
older, my parents told me the story of the murder of Arthur Allen. They were very ashamed 
of Jacopo Ferraldi and no one in the family ever said his name. Every time I went into the 
room where Jacopo killed his nephew and hid his body, I was sure I could hear strange cries 
and screams.

A few years later, because my family was poor, I travelled to England to try to make 
some money. I was a good singer, so I went to all the rich people's houses in London and sang at 
parties for money. At one of these parties, a kind old man, Mr Greathead, heard me and asked me 
to stay at his house in the country for the summer. 'I would like you to sing at all my parties and 
to give lessons to my daughters,' he said. I was very happy to agree.

When I arrived Mr Greathead showed me round the house  and garden. When we 
came to the flower garden, I was surprised to see a small part of it covered in Italian flowers.

'How do they grow here?' I asked. 'I've never seen them outside Italy'
'I think the ground is very rich here,' said Mr Greathead. 'But, funnily enough, my wife 

and I have a disagreement about this part of the garden. I would like to make the house 
bigger by building here, but my wife won't agree. She says she saw the ghost here once.'

That night at dinner I asked Mrs Greathead about the ghost in  the flower garden. 'I 
really did see someone or something there,' she said. 'It was an old man. He was very thin and 
he was holding a pencil and paper. He was walking up and down between those Italian flowers 
and the tree. I got the idea that he was looking for something. I ran into the house but, of course, 
when my husband came out he could see no one. Some of the servants have seen him, they 
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say, and the gardener says that, when he works in that part of the garden, the old man always 
appears. I've also heard stories of a murder here many years ago.'

Mr Greathead did not believe his wife's story and a few weeks later work began on that 
part  of  the garden.  One of the men  found an old coin and gave it to Mr Greathead, who 
showed it to me in great excitement.

'Look,' he said. 'It's in Italian, isn't it? And look at the date -1545. How strange.'
The workmen found many more coins that day, and at dinner  Mrs Greathead was 

very excited. 'You see,' she said to her  husband, 'now you must believe me. All that money 
belonged to the old man I saw. Perhaps he hid it under the ground and then someone murdered 
him. Now his ghost is looking for the money'

I began to think about Jacopo Ferraldi. Could it be? I thought. But no, it was impossible.
After dinner we had coffee in the library and I told the Greatheads my old family 

story about Jacopo and the murder of his nephew. As we talked I noticed something like a map, 
hanging on the wall. 'This looks very old,' I said. 'And ... how strange ... some of the words are 
in Italian.' As I looked closer I saw that it was in fact a map of the garden. I could see the flower 
garden and between the Italian flowers and the tree there was a cross. Mr Greathead came to look 
too.

'Yes,'  he said,  'we think the  gardens  were  designed  by an  Italian ...  but  what's 
wrong?'

I was looking at the back of the map, where I saw the words 'Jacopo Ferraldi' and the 
date '1550'.Then I was sure. I was in the  same house that the old murderer, Jacopo Ferraldi, 
came to all those years ago. The cross on the map showed the place where all his money was 
under the ground. I believe that he guessed the servants were planning to rob him, so he hid the 
money in the garden to keep it safe.  His ghost has walked there ever  since,  guarding our 
family's money.

The Greatheads were very surprised and pleased, especially Mrs Greathead, who 
loved to be right. They were very happy to

give all the old Coins to me, which I sold for enough money to make me a very 
rich man.
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